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DEFENDANT INTERNATIONAL RESCUE COMMITTEE’S BRIEF  
IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER  

AND PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
 

Acting without any lawful authority, the Governor of the State of Texas has directed that 

“the State of Texas will not accept any refugees from Syria.”  Pursuant to that order, Plaintiff, the 

Texas Health and Human Services Commission (“HHSC” or the “State”) has undertaken a series 

of unlawful measures and filed this lawsuit to prevent the settlement in Texas of families from 

Syria who have undergone extensive screening procedures and been admitted to the United 

States as refugees by the federal government.  The State’s attempt to interfere with refugee 

resettlement, and to discriminate against certain refugees on the basis of their nationality, is 

preempted by federal law, violates the Equal Protection Clause, and violates federal civil rights 

statutes.  In addition, the claim the State has brought against Defendant International Rescue 

Committee, Inc. (“IRC”) is utterly meritless. The States is therefore unlikely to prevail and, 

indeed, its actions to block IRC’s work are illegal and unconstitutional.  The State also has 

entirely failed to demonstrate that it will suffer any harm, much less irreparable harm, or any of 

the other requisites for temporary injunctive relief.  The State’s motion should be denied.1  The 

government Defendants in this case are opposing the State’s motion separately. 

Legal Background 

A. Basic legal framework for refugee resettlement 

The State’s complaint and motion ignore a basic tenet of law:  Refugee resettlement 

involves two areas of exclusive federal authority—foreign relations and immigration.  It is 

                                                           
1 The State did not file a separate motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary 
injunction but rather incorporated that motion and its complaint in its single filing.  Defendant 
IRC respectfully submits this brief in opposition only to the motion, and reserves its responsive 
pleading for later filing pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12.  Defendant IRC does not 
waive herein any answer, defenses, or counterclaims.  
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governed by the Immigration and Nationality Act (“INA”), 8 U.S.C. § 1101 et seq., as amended 

by the Refugee Act of 1980, Pub. L. No. 96-21.  Under the INA, the State simply does not have 

the legal authority to dictate the terms of refugee resettlement, and the State is unlikely to prevail 

on the merits of its claims. 

Through the INA, Congress has reinforced that the power to admit and to resettle 

refugees is exclusively in the hands of the federal government.  The INA provides that a 

“refugee” is an individual “unable or unwilling to return to . . . [his or her country of nationality] 

because of persecution or a well-founded fear of persecution on account of race, religion, 

nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political opinion.” 8 U.S.C. § 1158(b)(1). 

Not all refugees are granted admission to the United States; instead, Congress granted the 

President explicit authority to determine the number of refugee admissions in a given fiscal year, 

8 U.S.C. § 1157(a)(2); to determine which refugees are of “special humanitarian concern to the 

United States” and to allocate admissions accordingly, 8 U.S.C. § 1157(a)(3); and to increase the 

number of refugee admissions as necessary to account for emergencies, 8 U.S.C. § 1157(b). 

The U.S. Departments of State and Homeland Security have established extensive 

processes for determining whether applicants are refugees and for screening them for security 

threats.2  It typically takes a successful Syrian applicant for refugee admission at least two years 

to clear the multiple layers of screening and processing that are part of this system.3 

                                                           
2 U.S. Dep’t of State, U.S. Refugee Admissions Program, 
http://www.state.gov/j/prm/ra/admissions/index.htm. 
3 Haeyoun Park & Larry Buchanan, Why It Takes Two Years for Syrian Refugees to Enter the 
U.S., N.Y. Times, Nov. 20, 2015, http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/11/20/us/why-it-
takes-two-years-for-syrian-refugees-to-apply-to-enter-the-united-states.html. 
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Refugees who are ultimately approved for admission are placed in the Department of 

State’s Reception and Placement Program.4  IRC is one of nine national non-profit organizations 

that contract with the Department of State’s Bureau of Population, Refugees and Migration 

(“PRM”) to provide initial resettlement assistance to refugees in the United States, and has 

signed a “Cooperative Agreement” with PRM to provide these services. 

After initial resettlement, refugees are eligible for certain further assistance and services 

to help them integrate into life in the United States. 8 U.S.C. §§ 1521-22.  The Office of Refugee 

Resettlement (“ORR”) in the Department for Health and Human Services “fund[s] and 

administer[s]” these longer-term assistance programs “in consultation with the Secretary of 

State.” 8 U.S.C. § 1521.  Federal resettlement funds overseen by ORR flow to states and 

nonprofit agencies, and ultimately to refugees, asylees, and parolee entrants. 

In particular, under 8 U.S.C. § 1522, states, including Texas, receive grants from ORR 

both for activities undertaken directly by the state and for amounts that are “passed through” to 

nonprofit agencies, including IRC, to provide assistance such as job training, employment 

services, English-language training, and social services. 8 U.S.C. §§ 1522(a)(4)(B), (b)(5), (c)(1), 

(c)(2), (d)(2). 

Critically, Congress has explicitly provided that “[a]ssistance and services funded under 

this section shall be provided to refugees without regard to race, religion, nationality, sex, or 

political opinion.” 8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(5).  And federal law also subjects the states’ role in the 

refugee resettlement to strict limits and requirements.  “As a condition for receiving assistance,” 

a State must submit a “state plan” outlining how it intends to achieve certain program goals; 

designate a State employee as state refugee coordinator; “meet standards, goals, and priorities, 

                                                           
4 U.S. Dep’t of State, The Reception and Placement Program, 
http://www.state.gov/j/prm/ra/receptionplacement/index.htm. 
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developed by [ORR], which assure the effective resettlement of refugees and which promote 

their economic self-sufficiency as quickly as possible and the efficient provision of services”; 

and report annually to ORR on the use of funds administered by the state. 8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(6).  

In addition, section 1522 further states that “local voluntary agency activities should be 

conducted in close cooperation and advance consultation with State and local governments.” 

8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(1)(B).  But nothing in section 1522 or any other federal law remotely 

suggests that such “close cooperation and advance consultation” permits states or municipalities 

to set the terms for resettlement or unilaterally to block certain groups of refugees from being 

settled in the state. 

Federal regulations flesh out these statutory requirements.  By federal regulation, a state 

resettlement plan contemplated by section 1522(a)(6) must explicitly “[p]rovide that assistance 

and services funded under the plan will be provided to refugees without regard to race, religion, 

nationality, sex, or political opinion,” 45 C.F.R. § 400.5(g).  The plan must also “assure that 

meetings are convened, not less often than quarterly, whereby representatives of local 

resettlement agencies, local community service agencies, and other agencies that serve refugees 

meet with representatives of State and local governments to plan and coordinate the appropriate 

placement of refugees in advance of the refugees’ arrival.” 45 C.F.R. § 400.5(h).  And the plan 

must “provide that the State will . . . [c]omply with the provisions of Title IV, Chapter 2, of the 

[INA, 8 U.S.C. §§ 1521-24],” as well as “all other applicable Federal statutes and regulations and 

regulations . . . .” 45 C.F.R. § 400.5(i). 

B. IRC’s compliance with federal law 

IRC is fully in compliance with all applicable federal laws governing its work.  IRC has 

worked in Texas for some 40 years in a constructive partnership with the state, local officials, 
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and communities. See Compl. Ex. D.  It numbers among approximately 20 nonprofit agencies 

that work on refugee resettlement in the state. Duvin Decl. ¶ 4, attached as Ex. A.  In accordance 

with federal statute and regulation and the Texas state plan under 8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(6) (“the 

Texas State Plan”), agencies within the North Texas region meet quarterly with the State to plan 

and coordinate resettlement activities and assistance. Duvin Decl. ¶ 8.  Typically these meetings 

are convened by the State. Id.  The most recent meeting was on September 11, 2015; the next 

meeting, which has been convened by nonprofit stakeholders, is scheduled for December 11, 

2015, and the State has been invited to attend.  Id. IRC consistently attends these quarterly 

meetings and intends to continue doing so. Id. ¶¶ 8, 10. In addition, nonprofit agencies statewide 

are to meet with the State on an annual basis; the most recent statewide meeting was held in 

March 2015, and IRC was in attendance. Id. ¶ 9. 

In addition to these meetings, IRC routinely communicates with the State regarding 

resettlement activities.  For example, IRC regularly consults with HHSC’s Refugee Coordinator 

and Refugee Health Services coordinator in advance of providing proposed refugee placements 

to PRM for the coming fiscal year. Id. ¶ 11.  Specifically, prior to sending its projected 

resettlement figures to PRM for fiscal year 2016, IRC engaged in extensive consultation with the 

State and, in response to the State’s requests, provided detailed information regarding its 

proposed placements, including the placement of Syrian refugees. Id. 

C.  The State’s actions to bar Syrian refugee resettlement and to interfere with IRC’s 
work and its compliance with federal law 

 
Syrians have been migrating to Texas, and becoming Texans, for well over a century.5 In 

early 2011, a civil war marked by extraordinary brutality, terrorist tactics employed by the state 

                                                           
5 Lebanese/Syrian Texans, Texas Almanac 2006-07, available at 
http://texasalmanac.com/topics/culture/lebanesesyrians/lebanesesyrian-texans; Lebanese Texans 
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and numerous rebel groups, and immense suffering visited upon the civilian population erupted 

in Syria; it continues to this day.6  The State has facilitated the resettlement of 243 Syrians in 

Texas since 2011, in keeping with the State’s proud tradition of hospitality toward refugees.7  In 

attempting to show the need for a temporary injunction, the State points to President Obama’s 

February 5, 2014, Exercise of Authority, which waived technical violations of the material 

support bar for certain refugees.  But even after that lawful exercise of the President’s authority 

pursuant to federal law, 224 Syrian refugees have been resettled in Texas with the State’s 

assistance.8  In its motion, the State has articulated absolutely no harm to its interests flowing 

from the settlement of those refugees, or any others. 

However, following terrorist attacks on Paris on November 13, 2015, a number of 

governors announced that they would not allow Syrian refugees to resettle in their states—

without any lawful authority for insinuating state policy into an area of exclusive federal 

authority, and moreover without any factual basis demonstrating why they were attempting to 

discriminate on the basis of nationality against Syrians.  Among these governors was Governor 

Abbott, who announced on Twitter on November 16, 2015, that “Texas will not accept any 

Syrian refugees & I demand the U.S. act similarly.9  The same day, the Governor sent a letter to 

President Obama that began, “As governor of Texas, I write to inform you that the State of Texas 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
and Syrian Texans (Univ. of Tx. Institute of Texan Cultures at San Antonio 1988), available at 
http://digital.utsa.edu/cdm/ref/collection/p16018coll6/id/286. 
6 See generally U.S. Dep’t of State, Syria 2014 Human Rights Report, available at 
http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/236834.pdf. 
7 See Refugee Processing Center Interactive Reporting, U.S. Department of State, available at 
http://www.wrapsnet.org/Reports/InteractiveReporting/tabid/393/EnumType/Report/Default.asp
x?ItemPath=/rpt_WebArrivalsReports/Map%20-
%20Arrivals%20by%20State%20and%20Nationality. 
8 See id. 
9 https://twitter.com/GregAbbott_TX/status/666275701549502464 
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will not accept any refugees from Syria in the wake of the deadly terrorist attack in Paris.”10  The 

letter went on to explain that “[e]ffective today, I am directing the Texas Health & Human 

Services Commission's Refugee Resettlement to not participate in the resettlement of any Syrian 

refugees in the State of Texas.”  The following day, November 17, 2015, the Governor sent a 

directive to Plaintiff Texas Health and Human Services Commission and the Texas Department 

of Public Safety instructing them to implement his directive and to notify nonprofit agencies 

such as IRC. 

On November 19, 2015, HHSC sent to Defendant IRC a letter demanding information 

about IRC’s resettlement plans and informing IRC that “[i]n light of [the Governor’s] direction 

and additional instructions from the Governor,” HHSC “will refuse to cooperate with the 

resettlement of any Syrian refugees in Texas.” (Emphasis added.)  Plaintiff further instructed 

IRC to “discontinue . . . immediately” any “active plans to resettle Syrian refugees in Texas.” 

Compl. Ex. A.  IRC promptly responded to the State’s letter and provided the information 

requested by the State. 

On November 25, 2015, HHSC again wrote to Plaintiff, claiming that “we have been 

unable to achieve cooperation with your agency” because “your agency insists on resettling 

certain refugees from Syria in the near future.” Compl. Ex. C.  When IRC received this letter on 

November 30, 2015, it again immediately responded, explaining that it is “committed to working 

in close cooperation with the highest levels of Texas State leadership,” that it “has worked in 

Texas for over 40 years in a constructive partnership with state, local officials, and 

communities,” and offered to discuss the issues further in person or via videoconference.  IRC 

noted, though, that “in accordance with its obligations under federal guidelines and its 

                                                           
10 Letter from Gov. Greg Abbott to the President, available at http://gov.texas.gov/files/press-
office/SyrianRefugees_BarackObama11162015.pdf. 
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Cooperative Agreement with the U.S. Department of State,” it would “continue to provide 

assistance and services to all refugees who have been admitted lawfully to the United States.” 

Compl. Ex. D.  The State responded by letter on December 1, 2015, demanding that the IRC 

“halt resettlement of any Syrians seeking refugee status in Texas,” and requiring the IRC to 

confirm that it would comply with the demand by the next day. Compl. Ex. H.  IRC did not so 

confirm, and HHSC filed this suit on December 2, 2015. 

Argument 

 In order to prevail in its motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary 

injunction, the State must show that (1) there is a substantial likelihood that it will prevail on the 

merits; (2) there is a substantial threat that irreparable injury will result if the injunction is not 

granted; (3) the threatened injury outweighs the threatened harm to the Defendant; and (4) 

granting the preliminary injunction will not disserve the public interest.  Janvey v. Alguire, 647 

F.3d 585, 595 (5th Cir. 2011); Canal Auth. of Florida v. Callaway, 489 F.2d 567, 572 (5th Cir. 

1974); see also Clark v. Prichard, 812 F.2d 991, 993 (5th Cir. 1987) (same standard for 

temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction).  The State has failed to carry its burden 

on any of the four factors. 

 Moreover, the State is not seeking to maintain the status quo.  To the contrary, it is 

seeking to stop IRC’s ongoing work of resettling refugees who have been admitted by the federal 

government and without discrimination on the basis of nationality as required by federal law.  

Such “[m]andatory preliminary relief, which goes well beyond simply maintaining the status quo 

pendente lite, is particularly disfavored, and should not be issued unless the facts and law clearly 

favor the moving party.” Martinez v. Mathews, 544 F.2d 1233, 1243 (5th Cir. 1976).  The motion 

should be denied. 
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A. The State is not substantially likely to prevail on the merits 

The State is not substantially likely to prevail on the merits.  Indeed, its claims against the 

Defendants are entirely without merit, and it is the State’s actions that are contrary to federal law 

and the U.S. Constitution. 

1.  The State’s contract claims are without merit 

The State’s only cause of action against IRC claims that IRC has breached a contractual 

duty toward the State, on two grounds.  The first, which we will call the “Statutory Contract 

Claim,” is that, in the State’s view, 8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(1)(B)(iii) “require[s] … that [IRC] work 

‘in close cooperation and advance consultation with the [HHSC],” and IRC has failed to do so. 

Thus, the State alleges, IRC has violated a contractual requirement that it “[p]rovide services . . . 

in compliance with . . . applicable Federal laws and regulation,” see Compl. Ex. K, p. 5, ¶ U.  

The State’s second argument, which we will call the “Records Clause Contract Claim,” is that 

IRC has, in the State’s view, breached a contractual obligation to “cooperate fully and allow 

HHSC and all appropriate federal and state agencies or their representative’s access to client 

records, books, and supporting documents pertaining to services provided” and to “make 

documents available at reasonable times and for reasonable periods for the purpose of inspection, 

monitoring, auditing, or evaluating.”  The State is not substantially likely to prevail on either 

theory; indeed, these claims are entirely without merit. 

a) Statutory Contract Claim 

As an initial matter, the State repeatedly suggests that 8 U.S.C. § 1522 requires IRC to 

“cooperate” and “consult” with the State.  But there is no mandatory language in 8 U.S.C. § 

1522(a)(1)(B)(iii), which provides only that “[i]t is the intent of Congress that in providing 

refugee assistance under this section … local voluntary agency activities should be conducted in 
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close cooperation and advance consultation with State and local governments” (emphasis added). 

This is one of three hortatory provisions setting out broad preferences (the others being that 

refugees “should be placed in jobs as soon as possible” and that social service funds “should be 

focused on employment-related services”) but conspicuously omitting any statutory command. 

Notably, other applicable federal statutes do contain such mandatory language.  See, e.g., 8 

U.S.C. § 1522(a)(5) (“Assistance and services funded under this section shall be provided to 

refugees without regard to race, religion, nationality, sex, or political opinion.”) (emphasis 

added); 42 U.S.C. § 2000d (“[N]o person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, 

or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to 

discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.”) (emphasis 

added).  

But even if there were a statutory requirement of consultation and cooperation, IRC 

would be in full compliance.  As set out above, IRC has always collaborated with the State and 

has repeatedly stated—even on the day that HHSC brought this suit—it had every desire to 

continue to work in close consultation and cooperation with the State. And it has done so 

consistently. Specifically, 

• IRC faithfully attended and participated in all or substantially all of the quarterly 
meetings between the state and refugee resettlement agencies under the state plan. Duvin 
Decl. ¶ 10.  As 45 C.F.R. 400.5(h) establishes, these meetings serve the purpose of 
“plan[ning] and coordinat[ing] the appropriate placement of refugees in advance of the 
refugees’ arrival.”  
 

• IRC also frequently consulted with HHSC staff outside these meetings to provide 
projections regarding resettlement and to determine whether HHSC staff had concerns 
about IRC’s plans. Duvin Decl. ¶ 11. 
 

• IRC provided information regarding projected Syrian resettlement specifically on 
multiple occasions in the last three months, including a conversation at the end of 
September 2015, at which IRC proposed a specific number of Syrian refugees for 
resettlement in the Dallas area as part of a broader projection of refugee arrivals for 
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Dallas, and the HHSC official said he had no problem with the projection; a spreadsheet 
prepared by IRC and provided to HHSC on November 12, 2015, in response to a query 
from HHSC regarding Syrian refugees anticipated to arrive in Fiscal Year 2016; and a 
conversation on November 18, 2015, in which HHSC explained that the Governor’s 
office was seeking additional information on Syrian refugees and IRC provided 
information on arrivals expected December 3, 2015. Id. ¶ 12. 
 

• IRC responded promptly to each letter that HHSC sent regarding Syrian resettlement, 
reiterating its desire to cooperate and offering to meet in person or via videoconference. 
Id. ¶ 15. Moreover, where IRC could not give any information on account of the 
confidentiality provisions governing its relationship with PRM, its provided HHSC the 
contact information for persons at PRM who could provide the information it sought. Id. 

 
 

b) Records Clause Contract Claim 

The State’s Records Clause Contract Claim is even harder to fathom than its Statutory 

Contract Claim.  The State has failed to explain what, if any, “client records, books, and 

supporting documents” it sought from IRC; whether it sought such items for the purposes 

specified in the Records Clause; or how IRC failed to “make documents available at reasonable 

times and for reasonable periods.” 

Indeed, the evidence demonstrates that IRC has promptly complied with all of the State’s 

requests for information.  Even the State’s December 1, 2015, letter to IRC merely stated in 

conclusory terms that “the State has not been given access to any of the information necessary 

for meaningful participation” and that HHSC has “asked the Department of State” to provide it 

with information relating to Syrian refugees.  As detailed above, IRC repeatedly provided 

information to HHSC about its refugee resettlement plans, including information specifically 

relating to Syrian refugees, in recent months. Duvin Decl. ¶¶ 11-15. 

Finally, as the State must concede, IRC’s contract also required IRC to “comply with 

Federal laws and regulation[s].”  To the extent that HHSC’s Records Clause claim is based on 
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any alleged failure to provide information that is confidential under federal laws and regulations, 

that is an additional reason it fails.    

2.  The State’s claims are contrary to federal law 

In short, the State entirely fails to set forth in its motion with any specificity why it 

believes IRC has failed to cooperate.  The State simply alleges, in conclusory terms, that 

Defendant has not cooperated.  That is not nearly enough to justify the extraordinary emergency 

remedy that the State seeks.  Indeed, the State’s claim boils down to an argument that IRC and 

the federal government defendants failed to implement the State’s attempted ban on Syrian 

refugees.  That claim fails utterly on the merits.   

First, the plain and ordinary meaning of “cooperation” does not mean that IRC must do 

whatever the State says—especially when that is an order to discriminate against refugee 

families on the basis of nationality.  And critically, as IRC sets out in brief herein and will 

develop further in a responsive pleading, it is the State’s actions that are unlawful, as follows: 

The State’s attempts to prevent or obstruct the settlement of Syrian refugees in Texas violate at 

least the following statutory and constitutional provisions: (1) the INA, specifically 8 U.S.C. § 

1522(a)(5); (2) the Supremacy Clause; (3) the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection 

Clause; and (4) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  

a) 8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(5) 

First, the State’s efforts to bar the resettlement of Syrian refugees violate the Refugee 

Act, which provides that “[a]ssistance and services funded under this section shall be provided to 

refugees without regard to race, religion, nationality, sex, or political opinion.” 8 U.S.C. 

§ 1522(a)(5).  Contrary to Congress’s express provision, Texas has denied assistance to Syrian 

refugees on the sole basis of their nationality, and has attempted to compel IRC to deny 
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assistance to Syrian refugees on the sole basis of their nationality.  That is a straightforward 

violation of the statute, as well as the regulatory requirement that, via the Texas State Plan, the 

State must ensure “that assistance and services funded under the plan will be provided to 

refugees without regard to race, religion, nationality, sex, or political opinion,” 45 C.F.R. 

400.5(g). 

b) Supremacy Clause 

The State’s attempt to bar Syrian refugees also impinges unlawfully on an area of 

exclusive federal authority.  The federal government has “broad, undoubted power over the 

subject of immigration and the status of aliens.” Arizona v. United States, 132 S.Ct. 2492, 2498 

(2012).  Accordingly, the Supreme Court and other courts have “long recognized the preeminent 

role of the Federal Government with respect to the regulation of aliens within our borders,” and 

have repeatedly invalidated state laws and policies targeting immigrants under the Supremacy 

Clause. Toll v. Moreno, 458 U.S. 1, 10 (1982) (collecting cases); see also, e.g., Villas at Parkside 

Partners v. City of Farmers Branch, 726 F.3d 524, 526 (5th Cir. 2013), cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 

1491 (2014).  The State’s actions violate the Supremacy Clause in at least three separate ways: 

First, the State’s actions interfere with the federal government’s exclusive power to 

regulate immigration. Toll, 458 U.S. at 11 (1982) (quoting Takahashi v. Fish and Game 

Comm’n, 334 U.S. 410, 419 (1971)).  Furthermore, “aliens lawfully within this country have a 

right to enter and abide in any State in the Union ‘on an equality of legal privileges with all 

citizens under nondiscriminatory laws.’” Graham v. Richardson, 403 U.S. 365, 378 (1971) 

(quoting Takahashi, 334 U.S. at 420); accord Truax v. Raich, 239 U.S. 33, 39 (1915) (a non-

citizen admitted to the United States under federal law has “the privilege . . . of entering and 

abiding in any State in the Union”).  Here, the State is claiming precisely the powers that the 
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Supremacy Clause denies it: the power to deny refugees lawfully admitted to this country the 

right to enter and abide in Texas; and the right to add an additional condition—ineligibility for 

resettlement in Texas—to those imposed by the federal government on the admission of 

refugees. 

Second, the State’s actions are field-preempted.  States have no power to act “[w]here 

Congress occupies an entire field”—that is, where “the federal framework of regulation [is] so 

pervasive that Congress left no room for the States to supplement it or where there is a federal 

interest so dominant that the federal system will be assumed to preclude enforcement of state 

laws on the same subject.” Arizona, 132 S. Ct. at 2502, 2501 (punctuation and citation omitted). 

The admission and settlement of refugees is just such a field.  The federal statutes address all 

aspects of refugee admissions and resettlement defines a specific, limited, role for states to play 

in the process. See generally 8 U.S.C. § 1522.  

Moreover, the federal government has a dominant interest in the admission of non-

citizens generally, of which refugee resettlement is a key part.  And Congress has explicitly 

delegated extensive authority to the President to set refugee admission levels and allocate 

refugee admissions in light of “national interest” and “humanitarian” concerns, which amount in 

whole or in part to foreign policy concerns. Cf. United States v. Pink, 315 U.S. 203, 233 (1942) 

(“No State can rewrite our foreign policy to conform to its own domestic policies.  Power over 

external affairs is not shared by the States; it is vested in the national government exclusively.”)  

It is clear that there is no room for states to add their own regulations on this subject. See Hines 

v. Davidowitz, 312 U.S. 52, 66 (1941) (“[T]he regulation of aliens is so intimately blended and 

intertwined with responsibilities of the national government that where it acts, and the state also 

acts on the same subject . . . the law of the state . . . must yield to it.”) 
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Third, the state’s actions are conflict-preempted, both because “‘compliance with both 

federal and state regulations is a physical impossibility,’” and because the state’s actions 

“‘stand[] as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives 

of Congress.’” Arizona, 132 S. Ct. at 2501 (quoting Crosby v. Nat’l Foreign Trade Council, 530 

U.S. 363, 372 (2000)).  IRC cannot both comply with 8 U.S.C. § 1522(a)(5)’s (and Title VI’s) 

requirement that it provide services “without regard to . . . nationality” and comply with Texas’s 

demand that it “halt resettlement of any Syrians.”  And even leaving § 1522(a)(5) aside, the 

state’s actions present an obstacle to Congress’s scheme in many ways.  For example, the federal 

statute provides that the President allocates refugee admissions, 8 U.S.C. § 1157(b), and that the 

federal government has ultimate authority to determine where refugees are settled, 8 U.S.C. § 

1522(a)(2).  But if the state can do what it has done, it has an effective veto over these decisions.  

The federal statute does not permit a state veto, and the U.S. Constitution does not tolerate it. 

c) Equal Protection Clause 

The State’s actions also violate equal protection.  It is well established that state 

discrimination against or among aliens who are lawfully in the United States is “inherently 

suspect and subject to close judicial scrutiny,” Graham, 403 U.S. at 372—i.e., the state must 

demonstrate that its discriminatory actions are “‘-narrowly tailored measures that further 

compelling governmental interests,-’” Johnson v. California, 543 U.S. 499, 505 (2005) (citation 

omitted).  Thus, in Takahashi, the Supreme Court struck down a California statute that had 

denied fishing licenses to lawfully admitted non-citizens who were ineligible for citizenship, 

while allowing other non-citizens and citizens to obtain such licenses.  334 U.S. at 420.  In 

Graham, the Court likewise invalidated statutes that prohibited aliens lawfully in the United 

States from receiving public assistance. 
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Of course, Texas is not discriminating against all refugees, only Syrian refugees.  But that 

only makes matters worse.  The Court in Graham also explained that state classifications based 

on nationality are subject to the same strict scrutiny. 403 U.S. at 372; see also, e.g., Yick Wo v. 

Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 374 (1886) (reversing, on equal protection grounds, convictions under 

facially neutral California law on the ground that state applied it exclusively against Chinese 

non-citizens); Midi v. Holder, 566 F.3d 132, 137 (4th Cir. 2009) (strict scrutiny is applied to 

national-origin discrimination against lawfully admitted aliens); Benson v. Arizona State Bd. of 

Dental Examiners, 673 F.2d 272, 277 n.15 (9th Cir. 1982) (citing Graham, 403 U.S. at 371-72). 

The State clearly cannot meet its burden of justifying its action when strict scrutiny is 

applied.  While, as a theoretical matter, ensuring safety is compelling, positing an entirely 

speculative risk, as the State does in its motion, is not sufficient to demonstrate a compelling 

state interest.  Instead, “[t]he State must specifically identify an ‘actual problem’ in need of 

solving.”  Brown v. Entertainment Merchants Ass’n, 131 S. Ct. 2729, 2738 (2011) (quoting U.S. 

v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 822 (2000)).  “Conclusory statement[s]” are 

not enough. Id.  The state must do far more than allude to terrorist attacks in Paris or cite a few 

out-of-context quotes from officials to identify “an actual problem” with regard to the Syrian 

refugees coming to America after a lengthy and extensive review by the federal government.    

Nor is the suspension of resettlement imposed by the State the least restrictive alternative 

to meet security concerns, even if these concerns were compelling.  A total ban on all Syrian 

refugees because of a theoretical concern that one refugee may present a security concern is the 

antithesis of least restrictive alternative.  To the contrary, it is a categorical assumption (not 

based upon any facts)—the most restrictive means of addressing the “problem” that can be 
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imagined.  Of course, the least restrictive thing to do is to individually review all refugees being 

placed—and the federal government is already doing just that.  

d) Title VI 

The State’s actions also violate Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, which provides 

that “[n]o person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, or national origin, be 

excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under 

any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000d.  The two 

elements for establishing a cause of action pursuant to Title VI are “(1) that there is racial or 

national origin discrimination and (2) the entity engaging in discrimination is receiving federal 

financial assistance.” Baker v. Bd. of Regents of State of Kan., 991 F.2d 628, 631 (10th Cir. 

1993).   

Coextensive with the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, 

discrimination occurs under Title VI when the state “intentionally classif[ies] similarly situated 

individuals for different treatment on the basis of an impermissible characteristic, such as race, 

national origin, or gender.” Kelley v. Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of Illinois, 832 F. Supp. 237, 242 

(C.D. Ill. 1993) aff'd sub nom. Kelley v. Bd. of Trustees, 35 F.3d 265 (7th Cir. 1994).  Intentional 

discrimination is shown either by providing direct evidence of discrimination or by alleging 

“circumstances that support an inference of discrimination.” Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 

U.S. 506, 511 (2002).  “Direct evidence of discrimination is evidence that, if believed by the fact 

finder, proves the particular fact in question without any need for inference.  Such evidence 

includes any statement or written document showing a discriminatory motive on its face.”  

Lemmons v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp., 431 F. Supp. 2d 76, 86 (D.D.C. 2006) (internal quotations 

omitted).   
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Here, the discriminatory policy is explicit: the Governor stated that “the State of Texas 

will not accept any refugees from Syria”, and HHSC ordered IRC to “halt resettlement of any 

Syrians seeking refugee status in Texas.”  These directives apply solely to Syrian refugees and 

the only criterion for barring refugees from the State is their Syrian nationality.  Texas is 

therefore engaged in direct and explicit discrimination on the basis of national origin.  

The second element of a Title VI claim is equally clear.  HHSC is receiving “federal 

financial assistance” for its refugee programs; HHSC’s contract with IRC explicitly states its 

activities are “funded by [ORR] under Refugee Social Services Program Catalog of Federal 

Domestic Assistance (CFDA) # 93.566 and ORR, Targeted Assistance Grants CFDA #93.584.” 

Compl. Ex. K, Sec. I.   

The violation of Title VI here has been confirmed by the federal government.  On 

November 25, 2015, ORR published a letter underlining that “States that continue to use ORR 

funding must ensure that assistance and services are delivered without regard to race, religion, 

nationality, sex, or political opinion” and that “States may not deny ORR-funded benefits and 

services to refugees based on a refugee’s country of origin or religious affiliation.  Accordingly, 

states may not categorically deny ORR-funded benefits and services to Syrian refugees.” See 

United States Department of Health and Human Services—Office of Refugee Resettlement, 

Resettlement of Syrian Refugees, available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/orr/resource/ 

resettlement-of-syrian-refugees (last visited Nov. 30, 2015).  The ORR letter explained that state 

discrimination on this ground not only would violate state plan requirements, 8 U.S.C. § 

1522(a)(5), and 45 C.F.R. § 440.5(g), but would also violate Title VI.   

In sum, the State’s actions plainly constitute intentional discrimination on the basis of 

national origin under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 
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B. The State has shown no irreparable injury  

In alleging irreparable injury, the State alludes in entirely speculative and vague fashion 

to security concerns, notwithstanding the fact that each of the refugee families that IRC is 

scheduled to resettle in Texas has passed through the federal government’s rigorous security 

screen.11  The State has entirely failed to carry its burden of proving irreparable injury.  

C. The State’s actions cause a severe harm to IRC 

Moreover, an injunction would severely harm IRC by interfering with its core mission 

and duty under its contracts and federal law to resettle refugees without discrimination on the 

basis of nationality.  In addition, IRC has invested key resources in order to prepare for 

resettlement of 1,050 individuals in Texas in FY 2016.  If an injunction ensues, those resources 

would be wasted, resulting in loss of services and other harms to IRC clients. See Duvin Decl. 

¶ 17.  The harm to IRC posed by any injunction would be severe, while the State has shown no 

injury that would be caused by permitting the status quo to continue. 

D. The public interest will not be served by the requested injunctive relief 

The State has entirely failed to demonstrate that the public interest will be served by an 

emergency injunction.  To the contrary, the public interest will be harmed if the State is 

permitted to stop IRC from fulfilling its organizational mission and resettling fully vetted Syrian 

refugee families, as that unilateral state action would be entirely contrary to the U.S. Constitution 

and federal law, as set forth above.12  

                                                           
11 The State also asserts that its contract with Defendant IRC contains an express agreement that 
breach of contract constitutes irreparable injury.  However, the State’s contract claim is invalid 
for the reasons set forth above.  See supra. 
12 See, e.g., McIntire v. Bethel School, 804 F. Supp. 1415, 1429 (W.D. Okla. 1992) (“Vindication 
of constitutional freedoms is in the public interest.”) (internal citation and quotation omitted); 
Villas at Parkside Partners v. City of Farmers Branch, Tex., 701 F. Supp. 2d 835, 859 (N.D. 
Tex. 2010), aff’d, 726 F.3d 524 (5th Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 1491 (2014) (“[T]he 
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Conclusion 
 
 The State’s motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction order 

should be denied. 
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